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To the shareholders of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. 

 

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Opinion ________________________________________________________  

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. (the “Parent”) and 

subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2018, 

and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

consolidated notes. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts give a true and fair view, in all material 

respects, of the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group at 31 December 2018 

and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS‐EU) 

and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain. 

Basis for Opinion _________________________________________________  

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Consolidated Annual Accounts section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those regarding 

independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts in Spain pursuant to the 

legislation regulating the audit of accounts. We have not provided any non‐audit services, nor have any 

situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned regulations, have affected the required 

independence such that this has been compromised. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.   





 

 

 

3 

 

 

Other Information: Consolidated Directors’ Report ______________________  

Other information solely comprises the 2018 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which is the 
responsibility of the Parent's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the consolidated annual 
accounts.  
 
Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not encompass the consolidated directors’ 
report. Our responsibility regarding the content of the consolidated directors' report is defined in the 
legislation regulating the audit of accounts, which establishes two different levels: 
 

a) A specific level applicable to certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report, as defined in article 35.2. b) of Audit Law 22/2015, which consists solely of verifying that the 
aforementioned information has been provided in the consolidated directors' report, and if not, to 
report on this matter. 
 

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information included in the consolidated directors' 
report, which consists of assessing and reporting on the consistency of this information with the 
consolidated annual accounts, based on knowledge of the Group obtained during the audit of the 
aforementioned accounts and without including any information other than that obtained as 
evidence during the audit. Also, assessing and reporting on whether the content and presentation of 
this part of the consolidated directors' report are in accordance with applicable legislation. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements, we are 
required to report them.  

 
Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have verified that the information mentioned in a) 
above has been provided in the consolidated directors' report and that the rest of the information contained 
in the consolidated directors' report is consistent with that disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts for 
2018 and the content and presentation of the report are in accordance with applicable legislation.  

Directors' and Audit Committee's Responsibility for the Consolidated Annual 
Accounts _______________________________________________________  

The Parent's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated annual 

accounts in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity, consolidated financial 

position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance with IFRS‐EU and other 

provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for such internal control 

as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual accounts that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent's Directors are responsible for assessing the 

Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and presentation of the 

consolidated annual accounts. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts  _  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 

that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts. 

As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain, we 

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group's internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the Parent's Directors. 
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– Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent's Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated annual accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 

audit opinion. 

We communicate with the audit committee of the Parent regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with the applicable 

ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to communicate with them all matters 

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated to the audit committee of the Parent, we determine those that were of 

most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period and which are 

therefore the key audit matters.  

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter.   

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Additional Report to the Audit Committee of the Parent __________________  

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent's audit committee 

dated 25 April 2019. 
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Contract Period __________________________________________________  

We were appointed as auditor of the Group by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on 8 June 

2016 for a period of three years, from the year ended 31 December 2017.  

 

(Signed on original in Spanish) 

 

 

Borja Guinea López 

On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC”) with No. 16,210 

25 April 2019  

KPMG Auditores, S.L.  

On the Spanish Official Register of 

Auditors (“ROAC”) with No. S0702 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 
(In millions of Euros) 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 
 

 

 

ASSETS Note 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Investment property 6 327.3 336.5 

Property, plant and equipment 7 7.9 46.9 

Goodwill 8 5.0 10.2 

Other intangible assets 9 38.1 67.0 

Investments in associates 10 2,994.4 2,383.1 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 11 201.1 154.5 

Other financial assets 12 63.9 67.0 

Deferred tax assets 22 1.2 1.8 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  3,638.9 3,067.0 

 

Non-current assets held for sale 11 - 88.4 

Inventories  6.9 7.3 

Trade and other receivables 13 231.6 201.1 

Other financial assets 14 248.7 602.5 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 142.0 310.0 

CURRENT ASSETS  629.2 1,209.3 

TOTAL ASSETS 4,268.1 4,276.3 

 

 

 
 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Share capital 15 58.2 58.3 

Retained earnings and other reserves  15 4,012.4 3,935.2 

Own shares 15 - (2.4) 

Interim dividend 3 (29.1) (29.1) 

Equity  4,041.5 3,962.0 

Non-controlling interests 15 17.4 34.1 

TOTAL EQUITY   4,058.9 3,996.1 

 

Loans and borrowings 19 128.9 180.8 

Other financial liabilities 12 9.0 6.4 

Provisions 17 0.8 1.1 

Deferred tax liabilities 22 39.0 52.9 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  177.7 241.2 

 

Trade and other payables 18 18.7 24.5 

Loans and borrowings 19 12.8 14.5 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  31.5 39.0 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,268.1 4,276.3 

 
The accompanying notes 1 to 31 form an integral part of the consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2018 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 

DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 
 

(In millions of Euros) 

 

 

 

Note 

 

 

2018 

 

 

2017 

 
Share of profit/(losses) of associates 

 
10 

 
161.4 

 
118.9 

Revenues 24 92.4 64.5 

Other income  5.1 6.3 

Supplies  (29.6) (19.5) 

Changes in fair value of investment property 6 0.2 0.9 

Proceeds from disposal of and income from assets 6.9, 10 and 11 25.8 389.9 

Impairment 7 and 10 (10.1) (31.3) 

Personnel expenses 25.a (20.3) (19.5) 

Other operating expenses 24 (25.7) (22.6) 

Provisions  - (0.4) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (11.9) (8.4) 

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)  187.3 478.8 

Finance income 25.b 14.6 7.3 

Finance costs and exchange differences  (6.5) (5.4) 

Change in fair value of financial instruments 11 and 25.c (30.9) (4.7) 

NET FINANCE COST  (22.8) (2.8) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 

OPERATIONS  

  
164.5 

 
476.0 

Income tax expense 22 (1.9) 1.2 

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  162.6 477.2 

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  162.6 477.2 

Profit attributable to minority interests 
 

8.2 3.1 

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 
 

154.4 474.1 

 

Earnings per share (Euros/share) 
 

15 
 

2.65 
 

8.14 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 31 form an integral part of the consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2018 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED  

31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 
(In millions of Euros) 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 
 

 Note 2018 2017 

 
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FROM INCOME STATEMENT, INCOME AND 

EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 

 

 

 

 

 
10 

 
162.6 

 

 
 

(26.0) 

 
477.2 

 

 
 

(0.4) 

Share in other comprehensive income from investments in associates  (26.0) (0.4) 

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss 10 9.5 (74.5) 

Share in other comprehensive income from investments in associates  9.5 (74.5) 

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY  (16.5) (74.9) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  146.1 402.3 

Attributable to the Parent  137.9 399.2 

Attributable to non-controlling interests  8.2 3.1 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED 

31 DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 
(In millions of Euros) 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Share capital 

Retained earning 

and other reserves 

 

Own shares 

Interim 

dividend 

 

Equity 

Non-controlling 

interes 

 

Total equity 

BALANCE AT 1 JUNUARY 2017 58.3 3,593.5 (2.4) (29.1) 3,620.3 0.7 3,621.0 

Changes in consolidated equity of associates (note 10) - (74.9) - - (74.9) - (74.9) 

Profit for the year - 474.1 - - 474.1 3.1 477.2 

Total income and expense for the year - 399.2 - - 399.2 3.1 402.3 

Interim dividend for the prior year (note 3) - (29.1) - 29.1 - - - 

Dividends paid in the year (note 3) - (29.2) - (29 1) (58.2) (1.7) (59.9) 

Increases/(decreases) due to business combinations - - - - - 32.0 32.0 

Other movements - 0.7 - - 0.7 - 0.7 

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 58.3 3,935.2 (2.4) (29 1) 3.962.0 34.1 3.996.1 

Changes in consolidated equity of associates (note 10) - (16.5) - - (16.5) - (16.5) 

Profit for the year - 154.4 - - 154.4 8.2 162.6 

Total income and expense for the year - 137.9 0.0 0.0 137.9 8.2 146.1 

Interim dividend for the prior year (note 3) - (29.1) - 29.1 - - - 

Dividends paid in the year (note 3) - (29.1) - (29 1) (58.2) (8.4) (66.6) 

)Transactions with own shares (note 15) (0.1) (2.3) 2.4 - - - - 

Decrease due to disposal of Energyco Subgroup (note 2.3) - - - - - (16.1) (16.1) 

Other movements - (0.2) - - (0.2) (0.4) (0.6) 

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 58.2 4,012.4 - (29 1) 4,041.5 17.4 4.058,9 

The accompanying notes 1 to 31 form an integral part of the consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2018 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 

DECEMBER 2018 AND 2017 
(In millions of Euros) 

 

Notes  2018  2017 
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 

Acquisition of interests in associates and other investments 10 and 11 (629.8) (522.4) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents 5 - (8.0) 

Sale of interests in associates and other investments 11 88.4 898.0 

Acquisition of investment property 6 (2.3) (3.0) 

Sale of investment property 6 15.5 45.1 

Acquisition of other investments 14 (9.2) (602.5) 

Received from other financial assets  291.1 64.1 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 7 (1.2) (0.5) 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITY  (247.5) (129.2) 

 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Dividends paid 

 

 
3 

 

 
(66.6) 

 

 
(58.2) 

Repayment of loans and borrowings 19 (13.6) (15.6) 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (80.2) (73.8) 

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN NET CASH  (168.0) (159.9) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 
 

310.0 469.9 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  14 142.0 310.0 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 31 form an integral part of the consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2018 

 

Profit for the year before tax 164.5 476.0 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and 

 

  
11.9 

 
8.4 

Changes in fair value of investment property 6 (0.2) (0.9) 

Share of profit of associates 10 (161.4) (118.9  

Income from assets 10 (25.8) (378.1  

Impairment 7, 10 and 11 10.1 31.3 

Change in fair value of financial instruments and other  11 and 25.c - (1.5) 

Finance income 25.b (2.4) (7.3) 

Finance costs  6.5 5.4 

Other cash flows from (used in) operating activities 

Dividends received 

  
165.1 

 
80.7 

Working capital  (15.7) (13.5  

Income tax payments on account  11.2 (40.4  

Interest received  2.4 7.3 

Interest paid  (6.5) (5.4) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  159.7 43.1 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED AT 31 

DECEMBER 2018 

 

1. Activities 

 

Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. (Alba) is a company domiciled in Madrid (Spain) that owns significant 

interests in several companies operating in different sectors of the economy. Details of these companies are 

provided below. Their basic activities include the operation of buildings under lease agreements and holding 

interests in companies through venture capital activity. 

 
Given Alba’s activities, it does not have any environmental liabilities, expenses, assets, provisions or 

contingencies that could be material with respect to its equity, financial position or results. Consequently, these 

consolidated annual accounts do not disclose any specific information relating to environmental issues. 

 
2. Basis of Presentation of the Consolidated Annual Accounts 

 

2.1. Accounting Principles 

 

Alba’s consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 were prepared by the Board of 

Directors in the meeting held on 25 March 2019. They have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpretations as adopted by the European Union in conformity 

with Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002, as well as 

subsequent amendments, to provide a true and fair view of Alba’s equity and consolidated financial position at 

31 December 2018, the consolidated results of its operations and changes in consolidated equity and consolidated 

cash flows of the Group for the year then ended. 

 
The figures disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts are expressed in millions of Euros except 

where otherwise stated. 

 

These consolidated annual accounts have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following 

(IAS 1-117 and 1-118): 

 

 Investment property is measured at fair value; 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income; 

 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal. 

 
The measurement criteria and principles applied are described in note 4 of these notes to the consolidated 

annual accounts. All mandatory accounting principles and measurement criteria with a significant effect on the 

consolidated annual accounts have been applied. 

 

The directors of the Parent consider that the consolidated annual account for 2018, authorised for issue on 

25 March 2019, will be approved with no changes by the shareholders at their annual general meeting. 
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These consolidated annual accounts include comparative figures for the prior year. 

 
a) Standards and interpretations approved by the European Union that are applicable for the first time this year. 

 

These consolidated annual accounts for 2018 have been prepared using the same accounting principles as applied in 

the consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017, except for the standards and amendments 

adopted by the European Union set out below, which are obligatory from 1 January 2018 onwards: 

 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 

 IAS 40 Investment Property. 

 Amendments to IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions. 

 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and entered into effect from 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 establishes the criteria for 

recognising revenue from contracts with customers and sets out a new five-step model that applies to the recognition 

of revenue from contracts with customers: 

 

 Step 1: Identify the contract (or contracts) with the customer. 

 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations. 

 Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 

 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations. 

 Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 
In accordance with IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 

expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, when the customer 

obtains control of the goods or the services provided. 

 
This new standard supersedes all previous standards relating to the recognition of revenue. 

 

Given the Group’s type of business, the impact of applying IFRS 15 has not had any significant impacts on 

the Group’s consolidated annual accounts. 
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IFRS 9 Financial instruments 

IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 and entered into effect from 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 sets out the criteria for 

recognising and measuring financial instruments and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement. This standard presents the three stages of the financial instrument project: 

(i) classification and measurement, (ii) impairment and (iii) hedge accounting. 

 

(i) Classification and measurement 

 

The new classification criteria for financial assets will depend on the way in which an entity manages its 

financial instruments (its business model) as well as the existence and characteristics of the financial asset’s 

contractual cash flows. 

 
Based on the above, IFRS 9 establishes three classifications of financial assets: (i) at amortised cost, 

(ii) (ii) at fair value through equity or (iii) at fair value through profit or loss for the period. Formerly, IAS 39 

had four categories of financial assets (at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity, available for sale, 

and loans and receivables). 

 
Application of these new categories has led to a change in the name of the Group’s financial assets, although 

it has had no impact with regard to their measurement.  The Group has continued to measure at fair value all 

the financial assets it previously recognised at fair value. Trade receivables and loans are maintained to receive 

the contractual cash flows and it is expected that these will only represent payments of principal and interest, 

therefore they will continue to be recognised at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9.  

 
(ii) Impairment 

 

The new impairment criteria is based on the expected loss model rather than the incurred loss model under 

IAS 39. This impairment model is applicable to financial assets measured at amortised cost that include “Trade 

and other receivables”. 

 
Given the Group’s type of business, the new model for calculating impairment based on the expected loss 

method has not had any significant impacts on the Group’s consolidated annual accounts. 

 
(iii) Hedge accounting 

 

IFRS 9 seeks to align hedge accounting with entities' risk management policies, thus the requirements for 

designating hedged items and hedging items are more flexible. In 2018 the Group did not have any type of 

hedges and therefore this standard has had no impact. 
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b) Standards and interpretations issued but not effective in 2018 
 

At 31 December 2018, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the IASB but had not yet 

entered into force, either because the date on which they become effective is subsequent to the date of the 

consolidated annual accounts or because they have not yet been adopted by the European Union: 

 
IFRS 16 Leases 

 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 an replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 

contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 

Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

 
IFRS 16 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 

requires that lessees recognise all leases using a single balance sheet model similar to the one currently used for the 

recognition of finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two exceptions to the recognition of leases by 

lessees; leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (e.g. personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e. 

lease agreements for a term of 12 months or less). At the lease commencement date, the lessee recognises a liability 

for the lease payments to be made (i.e. the liability due to the lease) and an asset that represents the right of use of 

the underlying asset over the lease period (i.e. the right-of-use asset). Lessees must recognise separately the cost of 

interest on the lease liability and the depreciation expense of the right of use. 

 
Lessees are also obliged to remeasure the lease liability if certain events occur (e.g. a change in the lease term, 

a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine those payments).  

The lessee generally recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-

of-use asset.  

 
IFRS 16 does not substantially change lessor accounting compared to the current recognition under IAS 17. 

Lessors continue classifying leases using the same classification principles as in IAS 17 and recognise two types of 

leases: operating and finance leases. 

 
IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to include more extensive disclosures than those stipulated in IAS 

17.  

 
IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and the Group has 

decided not to apply IFRS 16 in advance. At the present time the Group only leases several vehicles for irrelevant 

amounts, therefore it does not expect significant impacts from applying this new standard. 
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Amendment to IFRS 9. Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation. 
 

It will permit measurement at amortised cost of some financial assets that may be cancelled early at a lower 

amount than the outstanding principal and the interest on this principal.  

 
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 

This interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement criteria in IAS 12 when there are 

uncertainties about the acceptability by a taxation authority of a particular tax treatment used by the entity. 

 
Amendment of IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures. 

 

It clarifies that IFRS 9 must be applied to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture if they are not 

accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle. Amendments to a number of standards. 

Amendments to IAS 19 - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement. 

It specifies how to calculate the current service cost and net interest for the rest of the annual period in the event of 

amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan.  

 
2.2. Use of judgement and estimates in the preparation of consolidated annual accounts 

 

The preparation of certain information included in these consolidated annual accounts has required the use of 

judgements and estimates based on assumptions that affect the application of accounting criteria and policies and 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and obligations. The most significant estimates 

used in preparing these consolidated annual accounts are as follows: 

 

 The estimate of the recoverable amount of interests in associates with indications of impairment. 

 The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of certain unlisted financial assets and investment 

property. 

 The determination of the fair values in business combinations and the assessment of possible 

impairment losses on certain assets. 

 
The estimates and assumptions used are periodically reviewed. Any change in accounting estimates following such 

a review or due to future events is recognised in the consolidated income statement for that and successive periods, 

in accordance with IAS 8. 

 
2.3. Subsidiaries 

 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated. The Group obtains control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with a subsidiary and it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

subsidiary.Specifically, the Group controls a subsidiary if and only if, the Group has: 
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 Power over the subsidiary (existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the subsidiary). 

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary. 

 The ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect the amount of the returns.  

 

It is generally assumed that a majority of voting rights amounts to control. In cases where the Group manages venture 

capital entities, or holds investments in these, whether control exists is determined in accordance with internal 

procedures and criteria that take into consideration IFRS 10 and therefore whether the entity should be fully 

consolidated or not. These methods take into consideration, among other aspects, the scope of its decision-making 

authority, the rights held by other parties, the remuneration to which it is entitled in accordance with the remuneration 

agreement(s) or the decision maker’s exposure to variability of returns from other interests that it holds in the 

investee. These entities include venture capital entities that are either managed by or are investees of the Group and 

their investments. 

 
The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are measured initially at their fair values at the date of acquisition. 

Any excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the part of identifiable net assets acquired is considered as 

goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired (a bargain 

purchase), the difference is recognised, if applicable, directly in profit or loss at the date of acquisition. 

 
Third-party interests in the Group’s equity and profit or loss for the year are recognised as minority interests 

within total equity in the consolidated balance sheet profit or loss attributable to minority interests in the consolidated 

income statement. 

 
In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, group companies and business combinations 

are fully consolidated and all their assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows are included in the 

consolidated annual accounts after making the adjustments and eliminations relating to intra-Group transactions. 

 
The corresponding information at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is presented below: 
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Subsidiary 

 

 
 

 

 
Activity 

 

 
 

 

 
Year 

 

 
 

 

Percentage 

ownership 

 

 

Carrying 

amount before 

consolidation 

 

 
 

 
 

Equity 

 

 
 

 

Profit/(loss) 

for the year 

Alba Patrimonio Investment property 2018 100.00 180.9 202.9 13.0 

Inmobiliario, S.A.U  2017 100.00 180.9 206.5 18.5 

C/ Castelló, 77, 5ª planta       
28006-Madrid       

Alba Europe SARL Investment in securities 2018 100.00 1.209.7 1.274.5 68.2 

Rue Eugène Ruppert 6  2017 100.00 719.1 712.0 (9.4) 

L-2453 Luxembourg       

Artá Capital, SGEIC, S.A.U. Private equity  2018 78.00 1.7 2.9 5.1 

Pza. M arqués de Salamanca, 10 management company  2017 78.16 1.7 3.3 8.1 

28006-Madrid       

Artá Partners, S.A. Investment in securities 2018 78.00 1.6 2.1 5.4 

C/ Castelló, 77, 5ª planta  2017 78.16 1.6 2.1 7.7 

28006-Madrid       

Deyá Capital, SCR, S.A.U. Venture capital  2018 100.00 92.2 153.1 59.9 

C/ Castelló, 77, 5ª planta company  2017 100.00 92.2 194.9 80.3 

28006-Madrid       

Deyá Capital IV, SCR, S.A.U. Venture capital  2018 100.00 56.3 74.9 22.4 

C/ Castelló, 77, 5ª planta company 2017 100.00 39.7 39.7 (2.6) 

28006-Madrid       

Energyco Subgroup (1) Distribution of 2018 - - - - 

Avda. António José de Almeida, propane gas 2017 40.30 13.4 33.0 (0.8) 

Lisbon - Portugal       

Satlink Subgroup (2) Technological  2018 28.07 12.1 17.1 1.8 

Avda. de la Industria, 53 Nave 7 

Alcobendas-Madrid 

solutions for 

fishing sector 

2017 28.07 12.1 41.8 3.1 

 

(1) This subgroup is formed by Energyco II, S.A., Gascan, S.A. and Newstead - Gestão Imobiliária, S.A. In December 2018 this 

subgroup was sold for Euros 36 million, obtaining a profit of Euros 21 million. 

(2) This subgroup is formed by Grupo Satlink, S.L., Satlink, S.L., Satlink, LTD, Linksat Solutions, S.A., Digital Services, S.L., 

Satlink WCPO Limited and Satlink WCPO Solomon 

(1) (2) Alba’s interests are held through Deyá Capital IV, SCR, S.A.U. 

Additionally, a further 31.93% of the subgroup Satlink belongs to other vehicles managed by Arta Capital, SGEIC, S.A.U., which 

exercises control over these vehicles, determines what investments are made, there are no restrictions regarding management and they are 

exposed to variable returns. As a result of the foregoing, Alba has considered that it has control over this subgroup. 

 

In 2018 and 2017 the auditor was KPMG Auditores, S.L., except in the case of the Energyco and Satlink subgroups, 

which were audited by Pricewaterhousecoopers Auditores, S.L. in 2017. 

 
2.4. Associates 

 

Entities over which Alba exercises significant influence even though its interest therein is less than 20% are 

considered associates. To determine whether significant influence exists, among other situations, the Parent 

considers the representation on the board of directors or the possibility of appointing a director, the involvement in 

establishing policies and the permanence of the interest. 
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The information in respect of 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

 
Percentage ownership  

 

 
Associate / Auditor  

 
Registered office 

 
Activity 

At 

31/12/2018 

At 

31/12/2017 

 
Change 

Representation 

on Board of 

Directors 
Acerinox, S .A. Santiago de Compostela, 100 Manufacture and sale of stainless steel 18.96 18.96 - 3 

Auditor PWC (Madrid)      

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad Plaza de la Lealtad, 1. Operator of securities markets and  12.06 12.06 - 2 

Holding De Mercados y Sistemas (Madrid) financial systems in Spain     
Financieros, S.A.       
Auditor: PWC       

CIE Automotive, S.A. 

Auditor: PWC 

Alameda Mazarredo, 69 

(Bilbao) 

Automotive industry and Solutions and 

Services (Smart Innovation) 

10.10 10.00 0.10 1 

Ebro Foods, S.A. Paseo de la Castellana, 20 Food 14.00 12.00 2.00 1 

Auditor: E&Y (Madrid)      

Euskaltel, S.A. Parque Tecnológico, Telecommunications 11.00 11.00 - 1 

Auditor: KPMG Edificio 809      
 (Derio-Vizcaya)      

Indra Sistemas, S.A. Avda. de Bruselas, 35 New technologies  10.52 10.52 - 1 

Auditor: Deloitte (Alcobendas - Madrid)      

Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales, 

S .A. 

Auditor: KPMG 

Paseo de la Castellana, 

216 (Madrid) 

Recreational and 

entertainment activities 

21.43 20.01 1.42  

2 

Rioja Luxembourg, S.à.r l. 20, avenue Monterey Investment in securities 25.73 - 25.73 2 

Auditor: E&Y 2018 L-2163 Luxembourg      

Viscofan, S.A. Polígono Industrial Berroa Manufacture of meat packaging, 13.00 11.32 1.68 1 

Auditor: PWC (Tajonar-Navarra) cellulose or artificial casings for cured meats 

 

 

14 



15 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 

 

 

 

 

In 2018 a 25.73% interest was acquired in Rioja Luxembourg, S.à r.l., a company owning 20.072% of Naturgy 

Energy Group, S.A. Consequently, Alba’s indirect interest in Naturgy is 5.16%, which added to Alba’s 0.11% direct 

interest amounts to a total interest of 5.27% in Naturgy. The increases in ownership interests are due to acquisitions 

during the year (note 10).  

 
In 2017 the entire interest held in ACS Actividades de Construcción y Servicios, S.A. was sold. The decrease 

in the interest held in Indra Sistemas, S.A. is due to dilution after the merger of this company with Tecnocom 

Telecomunicaciones y Energía, S.A. In Euskaltel, S.A. the dilution resulting from the merger with Parselaya, S.L. 

was offset by acquisitions during the year. Lastly, the rises in interest are due to acquisitions during the year (note 

10). 

3. Distribution of Profit 

 

The distribution of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A.’s profit for 2018 to be submitted by the Board of Directors 

for approval by the shareholders at their general meeting, and the distribution of profit for 2017 approved by the 

shareholders at their general meeting, are as follows (in millions of Euros): 

 

Basis of distribution 2018 2017 

Profit for the year 112.2 484.4 

Total 112.2 484.4 
 

Distribution to: 
 

Reserves 54.0 426.2 

Dividends 58.2 58.2 

Total 112.2 484.4 

 

The dividends paid by the Parent in 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

Number of 

 

 Millions 

  

  

with rights Euros/Share of Euros 

2018 
 

Interim dividend for 2018 58,240,000 0.50 29.1 

Final dividend for 2017 58,240,000 0.50 29.1 

2017 
 

Interim dividend for 2017 58,240,102 0.50 29.1 

Final dividend for 2016 58,240,102 0.50 29.1 

 

A final dividend from 2018 profit of Euros 0.50 per outstanding share at the date of payment will be proposed for 

approval by the shareholders at their general meeting. 

 
The liquidity statement required under article 277 of the Spanish Companies Act in relation to the interim 

dividend is presented by the Board of Directors in the notes to the Parent’s individual financial statements. 
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4. Significant Accounting Principles 

 

The main accounting policies used in preparing the accompanying consolidated annual accounts were as follows: 

 
a) Business combinations and non-controlling interests (minority interests) (note 5) Business 

Combinations 

Alba applies the acquisition method for business combinations. The acquisition date is the date on which Alba 

obtains control of the acquiree. 

 
The consideration transferred in a business combination is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 

values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred or assumed, the equity instruments issued and any 

consideration contingent on future events or compliance with certain conditions in exchange for control of the 

acquiree. 

 
The consideration transferred excludes any payment that does not form part of the exchange for the acquired 

business. Acquisition costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

 
The Group recognises the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair value. Non-

controlling interests in the acquiree are recognised at the proportionate interest in the fair value of the net assets 

acquired. These criteria are only applicable for non-controlling interests which grant entry into economic benefits 

and entitlement to the proportional part of net assets of the acquiree in the event of liquidation. Otherwise, non-

controlling interests are measured at fair value or value based on market conditions. Liabilities assumed include any 

contingent liabilities that represent present obligations arising from past events for which the fair value can be 

reliably measured. The Group also recognises indemnification assets transferred by the seller at the same time and 

following the same measurement criteria as the item that is subject to indemnification from the acquiree, taking into 

consideration, where applicable, the insolvency risk and any contractual limit on the indemnity amount. 

 
With the exception of lease and insurance contracts, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are classified 

and designated for subsequent measurement based on contractual agreements, economic terms, accounting and 

operating policies and any other conditions existing at the acquisition date. 

 
The excess between the consideration given, plus the value assigned to non-controlling interests, and the value 

of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed, is recognised as goodwill. Any shortfall, after evaluating the 

consideration given, the value assigned to non-controlling interests and the identification and measurement of net 

assets acquired, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

If it has only been possible to determine a business combination provisionally at the end of the reporting 

period, the identifiable net assets are initially recognised at their provisional amounts and adjustments made during 

the measurement period are recognised as if they had been known at that date. Comparative figures for the previous 

year are restated where applicable. 
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In any event, adjustments to provisional amounts only reflect information obtained about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts 

recognised at that date. 

 
The potential benefit of the acquiree’s income tax loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets, which are 

not recognised as they did not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date, is accounted for as income tax income 

provided that it does not arise from an adjustment of the measurement period. 

 
Contingent consideration is classified in accordance with the underlying contractual terms as a financial 

asset, financial liability, equity instrument or provision. Subsequent changes in the fair value of a financial asset or 

financial liability are recognised in consolidated profit or loss or other comprehensive income, provided that they 

do not arise from a measurement period adjustment. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not 

remeasured, and subsequent settlement is accounted for in equity. 

 
Contingent consideration classified as a provision is subsequently recognised in accordance with the relevant 

measurement standard. 

 
The cost of the business combination includes contingent consideration, if this is probable at the acquisition 

date and can be reliably estimated. Subsequent recognition of or changes to contingent consideration are recognised 

as a prospective adjustment to the cost of the business combination. 

 
Non-controlling interests (minority interests) 

 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are recognised at the acquisition date at the proportional part of the fair 

value of the identifiable net assets. Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries acquired prior to the transition date were 

recognised at the proportional part of the equity of the subsidiaries at the date of first consolidation. 

 
The consolidated profit for the year and changes in equity of the subsidiaries attributable to Alba and non-

controlling interests after consolidation adjustments and eliminations is determined in accordance with the 

percentage ownership at year end, without considering the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights 

and after discounting the effect of dividends, agreed or not, on cumulative preference shares classified in equity 

accounts. However, Group and non-controlling interests are calculated taking into account the possible exercise of 

potential voting rights and other derivative financial instruments which, in substance, currently allow access to the 

economic benefits associated with the interests held, such as entitlement to a share in future dividends and changes 

in the value of subsidiaries. 
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The results and each component of other comprehensive income are allocated to equity attributable to equity 

holders of the Parent and to non-controlling interests in proportion to their investment, although this implies a 

balance receivable from non-controlling interests. Agreements entered into between the Group and non-controlling 

interests are recognised as a separate transaction. 

 
b) Investment property (note 6) 

 

Investment property, buildings used for rental purposes, is initially recognised at cost, including transaction costs. 

These investments are subsequently measured at fair value, determined by independent experts in accordance with 

the following definition: “Is the price at which the building could be sold under private contract between a willing 

seller and an arm's length buyer on the date of valuation, it being assumed that the property is publicly exposed to 

the market, that market conditions permit orderly disposal and that a normal period, having regard to the nature of 

the property, is available for the negotiation of the sale”.  Changes in fair value are recognised in the income 

statement for the period in which they arise. These investments are not depreciated. 

 
b.1) Leases 

 

Determination of whether a contract is, or contains, a lease is based on the economic substance of the agreement at 

the date thereof. The contract is analysed to verify whether its fulfilment depends on the use of an asset or specific 

assets or the agreement implies the right of use of an asset or assets, although this right is not explicitly specified in 

the contract.  

 
Leases in which the Group maintains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are 

classified as operating leases. Contingent rents are recognised as income in the year in which they are obtained. 

 
c) Property, plant and equipment (note 7) 

 

In application of IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” buildings for own use 

were recognised on 1 January 2004 at fair value, determined by independent experts as defined in the previous note, 

considering this amount to be the cost of acquisition.  This increase in value was credited to equity in the consolidated 

balance sheet.  

 
The remaining property, plant and equipment are valued at cost of acquisition; interest or exchange 

differences are not included. Costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements which increase the productivity, 

capacity or efficiency or extend the useful lives of assets are capitalised as an increase in the cost of those assets. 

 
Depreciation is on a straight-line basis, distributing the carrying amount over the estimated useful lives of the 

assets, in accordance with the following percentages: 
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Percentage 

of annual 

depreciation 

Buildings and constructions 2 

Technical installations 8 

Furniture and fixtures 10 

Information technology equipment 25 

 

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and its 

carrying amount is immediately reduced to its recoverable amount. 

 

d) Intangible assets 

d.1) Goodwill 

Goodwill is determined using the same criteria as for business combinations (see note 5). 

 
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently where events or 

circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. Goodwill on business combinations is allocated to the Group’s 

cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business 

combination and the criteria described in note 8 are applied. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 

less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and their value in 

use. 

 
If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the difference is recognised under 

impairment losses in the consolidated income statement. 

 
d.2) Customer portfolio 

 

The relationships with customers that Alba recognises under customer portfolios are separable and based on a 

contractual relationship, thus meeting the requirements set out in prevailing legislation for consideration as 

intangible assets separate from goodwill. In general, these are customer service contracts that have been 

recognised in the allocation of fair values in business combinations. 

 
The fair value allocated to customer contract portfolios acquired from third parties is the acquisition price. 

 
The income approach was used to determine the fair value of intangible assets allocated in business 

combinations in the form of customer relationships; discounting the cash flows generated by these relationships at 

the date of acquisition of the subsidiary. Cash flows are estimated based on the sales, operating investments and 

EBITDA margins projected in the company’s business plans. 
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Customer portfolios are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The useful life is 

estimated based on indicators such as average length of relationship with customers or the average annual customer 

churn rate. The useful lives allocated to these intangible assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. The 

useful life of the customer portfolio is 10 years. 

 
Customer portfolios are allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) in accordance with their respective 

business segment and the country of operation. 

 
d.3) Other intangible assets 

 

These are intangible assets that were recognised in business combinations. 

 

They are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life that is between 3 and 60 years. 

 
Other intangible assets are allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) in accordance with their respective 

business segment and the country of operation. 

 
If an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount of assets subject to amortisation or 

depreciation may not be recoverable, Alba determines whether impairment losses have been incurred. An 

impairment loss is recognised as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value of the asset less costs of disposal and value in use. For impairment 

testing purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which separate identifiable cash flows can be identified 

(cash-generating unit, CGU). Impaired non-financial assets other than goodwill are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period to assess whether the loss has been reversed. 

 
e) Investments in associates (note 10) 

 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method from the date that significant influence 

commences until the date that significant influence ceases. However, if on the acquisition date all or part of the 

investment qualifies for recognition as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale, it is recognised at fair 

value less costs of disposal. 

 
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost of acquisition, including any cost directly attributable 

to the acquisition and any consideration receivable or payable contingent on future events or on compliance with 

certain conditions.  

 

The excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets 

is recognised as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount of the investment. 
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The Group’s share of the profit or loss of associates is recognised as an increase or decrease in the value of 

the investments, with a credit or debit to share of the profit or loss for the year of associates. The Group’s share of 

other comprehensive income of associates from the date of acquisition is recognised as an increase or decrease in 

the value of the investments in associates with a balancing entry in other comprehensive income based on the nature 

of the investment. The distribution of dividends is recognised as a decrease in the value of the investment. The 

Group’s share of profit or loss, including impairment losses recognised by the associates, is calculated based on 

income and expenses arising from application of the acquisition method. 

 
The Group’s share of the profit or loss of an associate and changes in equity is calculated without considering 

the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights. 

 
Impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying amount of the net investment in the associate with its 

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. 

Accordingly, value in use is calculated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the present value of estimated cash 

flows from ordinary operations and the income generated on final disposal of the associate. 

 
Impairment losses are not allocated to goodwill or other assets implicit in the investment in associates derived 

from application of the acquisition method. In subsequent years, reversals of the value of investments are recognised 

in profit or loss to the extent of any increase in the recoverable amount. Impairment losses are presented separately 

from the Group’s share of profit or loss of associates. 

 
f) Investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 11) 

 

Investments held with the intention of not selling them in the short term and those held through venture capital 

companies are included in this line item. 

 
They are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

The fair value of investments in unlisted companies was determined using the most suitable method for each 

investment of either the analysis of multiples of comparable companies or the discounted cash flow method.  

 
g) Non-current assets held for sale (notes 6 and 11)  

 

Assets for which there is a sale offer or their sale is highly probable within the next 12 months are included in this 

line item.  Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 

costs to sell. 
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h) Calculation of fair value (notes 6, 11 and 20) 

 

Alba measures financial instruments and non-financial assets such as investment property at their fair value at the 

reporting date of the financial statements. Also, details of the fair value of financial assets measured at amortised 

cost are provided in note 20. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the transaction date. A fair value measurement assumes that 

the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 
The principal or most advantageous market must be a market that is accessible for Alba. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is calculated using the assumptions that market participants would use 

when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 
Alba uses valuation techniques appropriate to the circumstances and for which sufficient information is 

available to calculate the fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs. 

 
All the assets and liabilities for which calculations or disclosures of their fair value are made in the financial 

statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described below, based on the lowest level input necessary 

for the calculation of the fair value measurement in its entirety: 

 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input used, which is significant for the 

calculation, is directly or indirectly observable 

 Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input used, which is significant for the 

calculation, is unobservable 

 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, at the end of each year 

Alba reviews their categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant for the calculation of fair value 

as a whole) to determine whether there have been any transfers between the different levels of the hierarchy.  
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Alba determines the policies and procedures for recurring fair value calculations, such as property 

investments and unlisted financial assets. 

 
In order to value significant assets and liabilities, such as property investments, financial assets and 

contingent consideration, internal and external valuators are used. 

 
For the purposes of the required disclosures of fair value, the Group has determined the different classes of 

assets and liabilities based on their nature, characteristics, risks and fair value hierarchy as explained previously. 

 
i) Loans and receivables (notes 12 and 13) 

 

The Group initially measures financial assets included in this category (other financial assets and trade and other 

receivables) at fair value, which is the transaction price.  In transactions with a due date within one year for which 

there is no contractual interest rate, dividends receivable and receivables on called-up equity instruments expected 

to be collected in the short term are measured at their nominal amount, as the effect of not discounting the cash flows 

is immaterial. 

 
Subsequently these financial assets are measured at amortised cost and the interest accrued is recognised in 

the income statement using the effective interest method.  At least once a year, provided there is objective evidence 

that a loan or receivable is impaired, Alba carries out impairment testing. Based on this analysis, if applicable, Alba 

recognises the corresponding impairment losses. 

 
The impairment loss on these financial assets is calculated as the difference between their carrying amount 

and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. 

 
Impairment and its reversal are recognised as an expense or income, respectively, in the income statement. 

The loss can only be reversed up to the limit of the carrying amount of the receivable that would have been recorded 

at the reversal date had the impairment loss not been recognised. 

 
j) Cash and cash equivalents (note 14) 

 

This line item of the balance sheet includes cash on hand, demand deposits and other current highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
k) Financial liabilities (note 19) 

 

Financial liabilities generally include loans and borrowings that are initially recognised at the cash amount received, 

less transaction costs. In subsequent periods they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 



24 

(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 

 

 

l) Own shares (note 15) 

 

Own shares are recognised as a reduction in equity. No gain or loss is recognised for the purchase, sale, issue, 

redemption or cancellation of Alba’s own equity instruments. 

 
m) Provisions (note 17) 

 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising from a past event when it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. If the time effect of 

money is significant, the provision is discounted using a pre-tax rate. When discounted, increases in the provision 

due to the passage of time are recognised as a finance cost. 

 
n) Income tax (note 22) 

 

The income tax expense is calculated as the sum of current tax, calculated by applying the relevant tax rate to the 

taxable income or tax loss for the period, less any existing deductions and credits, plus any changes in recognised 

deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period. The income tax expense is recognised in the income statement 

except when it relates to transactions recognised directly in equity, in which case the associated tax is also recognised 

in equity, or as part of a business combination with a charge or credit to goodwill. 

 
o) Alternative pension plans 

 

Alba has three plans, two defined benefit plans and one defined contribution plan, which are externalised to insurance 

companies and require that contributions be made to a separately managed fund.  

 
The Group recognises the contributions payable to a defined contribution plan in exchange for a service when 

an employee has rendered service to the Group. The amount of the contributions accrued are recognised as personnel 

expenses. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for service before the end of the period, the 

Group only recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayments will lead to, for 

example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund. 

 
When contributions to a defined contribution plan are not expected to be paid in full within the 12 months 

after the end of the year in which the employees render the related service, they are discounted using the market 

yield on high quality corporate bonds. 

 
The projected unit credit method was used to measure the obligation derived from pension commitments. 

With this method the benefits are financed as they are generated, based on the years of service that the employee has 

at the Company, so that the commitment is fully funded at the time of retirement. 
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Past service cost is recognised in the consolidated income statement at the earlier of the following dates: 

 
- When the plan amendment or curtailment occurs; and 

- When the Group recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits.  

 
The discount rate of the obligations and the assets to settle the commitments was determined considering the return 

on corporate bonds with a high credit rating and a similar maturity to the commitments measured, using German 

public debt as a benchmark. 

 
The main assumptions used in 2018 and 2017 to measure the defined benefit commitments were as follows: 

 

Mortality tables PERM/F 2000 NP 

Technical interest agreed in the policies  2.00% - 3.70% 

CPI growth 1.00% 

Pay rises 1.00% 

Changes in Social Security  1.50% 

Discount rate of obligations and assets 

to settle the commitments  

 

 

2.00% 

Retirement age 65 



(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 

 

 

 

 

 
The changes in the defined benefit plan obligations and the fair value of the assets associated with the benefit in 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

 

Cost of commitments recognised in the income 

statement 

  (Costs)/ Subtotal Obligations Actuarial  
Cost of Income from included in settled gains/  

1 Jan services net interest profit/(loss) (paid) (losses) 31 Dec. 

2018 

Obligations under defined benefit plans 

Fair value of assets associated with the benefit 

 (Obligations) /Rights under defined benefit plans, net  

 
 

2017 

Obligations under defined benefit plans 

Fair value of assets associated with the benefit  
 

 

(Obligations) / Rights under defined benefit plans, net - 

 

 

 

 

 
The contribution expected to be made in 2019 in relation to the defined benefit plans is Euros 1.3 million. 
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(24.8) (1.3) (0.5) (1.8) 2.9 - (23.7) 

24.8 0.4 1.6 2.0 (2.9) (0.2) 23.7 

 - 

 

(23.0) (1.3) (0.5) (1.8) - - (24.8) 

23.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 - 0.3 24.8 
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Sensitivity analysis: 
 

  

Discount rate 

 Future salary 

increases 

Sensitivity level +0.5% -0.5%  +0.5% -0.5% 

2018 

Impact on the (Obligations) / Rights under defined benefit plans, net 

 
-9.44% 

 
10.98% 

  
3.73% 

 
-3.74% 

2017 
     

Impact on the (Obligations) / Rights under defined benefit plans, net -9.44% 10.92%  3.67% -3.52% 

 

The contributions related to both plans are recognised in the accompanying income statement and disclosed in 25.a 

 
p) Share-based payment transactions (note 27) 

 

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 Alba has no share option schemes. 

 

q) Recognition of income and expenses 

 

Income and expenses are allocated on an accruals basis, irrespective of the timing of collections and payments and 

always taking into account the economic substance of the transaction. 

 
 

5. Business Combinations 

 

On 9 March 2017, through Deyá Capital IV, SCR, S.A., Alba acquired 40.30% of Energyco II, S.A., with registered 

office in Portugal, and whose main activity is the sale of propane gas piped to the end customer. 

 The main reason for this business combination was that the venture capital management company, Arta Capital, 

SGEIC, SAU, held a majority interest. The acquiree generated revenue of Euros 15.9 million and a consolidated loss 

of Euros (0.6) million for Alba from the acquisition date to the reporting date. Towards the end of 2018 this interest 

was sold for a gain of Euros 21 million. 

 
Had the acquisition taken place at 1 January 2017, the Group’s revenue and consolidated loss for the year 

ended 31 December 2017 would have amounted to Euros 21.6 million and Euros (0.8) million, respectively. 

 
Details of the consideration given, the fair value of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 
 

Cash paid 13.4 

Non-controlling interests 12.2 

Fair value of net assets (20.4) 

Goodwill 5.2 
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The amounts recognised by significant class at the date of acquisition of the assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities are as follows: 

 
 

 Fair value 

Intangible assets 25.1 

Other property, plant and equipment 41.7 

Cash 2.7 

Receivables and other assets 7.8 

Total assets 77.3 

Debt with financial institutions 40.7 

Liabilities derived from temporary differences 12.6 

Other liabilities 3.6 

Total liabilities 56.9 

Total net assets 20.4 

Non-controlling interests (12.2) 

Cash outflow for the acquisition (13.4) 

 

Intangible assets comprise licences, franchising rights and rights of way with a useful life of 60 years. Other property, 

plant and equipment is backed by deposits and the distribution network (Euros 13.7 million), with a useful life of 60 

years. 

 
In December 2018 this subgroup was sold for Euros 36 million, giving rise to a gain of Euros 21 million. 

 
On 3 March 2017, through Deya Capital IV, SCR, S.A., Alba acquired 28.07% of Satlink Group, S.L., with 

registered office in Spain, and whose main activity is researching technological solutions for the fishing sector.  The 

main reason for this business combination was that the venture capital management company, Arta Capital, SGEIC, 

SAU, held a majority interest. The acquired business generated revenue and a consolidated profit of Euros 31.8 

million and Euros 0.2 million, respectively, for the Group between the acquisition date and the end of the reporting 

period. 

 
Had the acquisition taken place at 1 January 2017, the Group’s revenue and consolidated profit for the year 

ended 31 December 2017 would have amounted to Euros 49.2 million and Euros 3.1 million, respectively. 

 

Details of the consideration given, the fair value of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 

Cash paid 12.1 

Non-controlling interests 18.2 

Fair value of net assets (25.3) 

Goodwill 5.0 
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The amounts recognised by significant class at the date of acquisition of the assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities are as follows: 
 

 Fair value 

Intangible assets 46.0 

Other property, plant and equipment 0.9 

Cash 14.8 

Receivables and other assets 19.8 

Total assets 81.5 

Debt with financial institutions 33.6 

Liabilities derived from temporary differences 12.9 

Other liabilities 9.7 

Total liabilities 56.2 

Total net assets 25.3 

Non-controlling interests (18.2) 

Cash outflow for the acquisition (12.1) 

 

Intangible assets comprise industrial designs, IT applications, trademark and the customer portfolio (Euros 46.0 

million) with a useful life of between 3 and 15 years. 

 
The fair value estimates of both business combinations were carried out by an independent expert. Both 

business combinations are recognised in the consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2017 and the value at 

which they are recorded is considered definitive. 

 

6. Investment Property 

 

This line item comprises buildings leased out. The contract with the former property investment valuation-appraisal 

company, C.B. Richard Ellis, S.A., expired in 2017 and tenders were called for the assignment. Savills Consultores 

Inmobiliarios, S.A., specialists in valuing this kind of investment, were selected. The valuation was performed 

according to the Property Appraisal and Valuation Standards and Observations Guide published by the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors in the United Kingdom, and is based on the Discounted Cash Flow and 

Comparison method. 

The methodology used to calculate the market value of investment assets consists of preparing 10 years' worth of 

income and expense projections for each asset, which will subsequently be updated at the reporting date using a 

market discount rate. The residual amount at the end of year 10 is calculated applying a rate of return (“exit yield” 

or “cap rate”) to the net income projections for year 11. The market values thus obtained are analysed by calculating 

and analysing the yield capitalisation implicit in these values. The projections are aimed at reflecting the future 

income and expenses of the real estate assets. Both the rate of return and the discount rate are defined in accordance 

with the domestic market and considering the conditions prevailing in the institutional market. 
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The valuation method used considers each property on an individual basis and does not contemplate applying 

any adjustments because it belongs to a large portfolio of properties. For each property a rent capitalisation rate 

considered to be market has been assumed, which was subsequently adjusted based on the following parameters: 

 
• The duration of the lease contract and the solvency of the tenant. 

 

• The location of the premises within the municipality (centre, metropolitan area or periphery). 

 

• The immediate surroundings of the property. 

 

• The state of conservation of the property (external and internal). 

 

• The distribution of the property’s surface area between below ground and above ground. 

 

• The facade looks onto one or more streets (corner, chamfer). 

 

• The rental situation compared to market rent. 

 

The geographical distribution of the valuation is as follows: 

 

2018 2017 
 

Madrid 310.6 319.8 

Barcelona 16.7 16.7 

Total 327.3 336.5 

 

 
Movement in this item is as follows: 

 
Balance at 1/01/2017 349.1 

Increases 3.0 

Decreases (16.5) 

Changes in fair value 0.9 

Balance at 31/12/2017 336.5 

 

Increases 
 

2.3 

Decreases (11.7) 

Changes in fair value 0.2 

Balance at 31/12/2018 327.3 

 

 

In 2018, decreases reflect the sale of an office block and various indoor parking spaces for a gain of Euros 2.7 

million, while increases reflect improvements to the buildings. 

 
In 2017, decreases reflect the sale of various buildings in Madrid and one in Mallorca for a gain of Euros 

2.8 million, while increases reflect improvements to the buildings. 
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The most significant data regarding lettable area at 31 December, is as follows: 

 
 

 2018  2017 

Above ground surface area (m2) 83,730  85,781 

Rented area (m2) 71,984  74,102 

Occupancy rate (%) 86.0%  86.4% 

 

Following is a sensitivity analysis of the main variables that are taken into account when valuing all the investment 

property of Alba. The following table shows the potential variation in fair value of all the investment property in the 

event of a 10% decrease/increase in rent of all the buildings and in the event of a 25 b.p. decrease/increase in the 

rate of return (“Exit yield”): 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The expenses associated with vacant surface area are not significant enough to be disclosed. 

 

Lease income for the non-cancellable period at 31 December 2018 and 2017, calculated until contractual 

maturity, is as follows: 

 
 

 2018  2017 

Up to 1 year 15.3 
 14.6 

Between 1 and 5 

 

18.9  19.3 

More than 5 

 

1.1  2.3 

TOTAL 35.3 
 

36.2 

 

Insurance policies are contracted to cover the risk of damage to these assets.

 

Year 

  

-10% rent 

  EXIT YIELD 

+25%BP 

 EXIT YIELD 

+25%BP 

   

+10% rent 

2018  -9.67%   -3.75%  4.04%   9.67% 

2017  -9.34%   -3.56%  3.99%   9.34% 
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7. Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

Movement in this balance sheet item is as follows: 

 
  

 

Buildings 

 Other property, 

plant and 

equipment 

  
 

Total 

Cost: 

Balance at 1/01/2017 

 

19.6 

  

2.3 

  

21.9 

Increases -  0.5  0.5 

Disposals -  (1.4)  (1.4) 

Business combinations -  42.6  42.6 

Balance at 31/12/2017 19.6  44.0  63.6 

Accumulated depreciation: 

Balance at 1/01/2017 

 

 
(12.4) 

  

 
(2.0) 

  

 
(14.4) 

Increases (0.8)  (2.5)  (3.3) 

Business combinations -  1.4  1.4 

Balance at 31/12/2017 (13.2)  (3.1)  (16.3) 

Provisions:          

Balance at 1/01/2017 

 

 
(0.5) 

  

 
- 

  

 
(0.5) 

Decreases 0.1  -  0.1 

Balance at 31/12/2017 (0.4)  -  (0.4) 

Balance at 31/12/2017 6.0  40.9  46.9 

 
Cost: 

Balance at 1/01/2018 

 

 
 

19.6 

  

 
 

44.0 

  

 
 

63.6 

Increases -  1.2  1.2 

Disposals -  (39.3)  (39.3) 

Balance at 31/12/2018 19.6  6.0  25.5 

Accumulated depreciation: 

Balance at 1/01/2018 

 

 
(13.2) 

  

 
(3.1) 

  

 
(16.3) 

Increases (0.8)  (0.3)  (1.0) 

Balance at 31/12/2018 (13.9)  (3.4)  (17.3) 

Provisions:          

Balance at 1/01/2018 

 

 
(0.4) 

  

 
- 

  

 
(0.4) 

Reversals 0.1  -  0.1 

Balance at 31/12/2018 (0.3)  -  (0.3) 

Balance at 31/12/2018 5.3  2.6  7.9 

 

 

Disposals for the year consist of the sale of the Energyco II subgroup (Note 2.3). 
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Insurance policies are contracted to cover the risk of damage to the various property, plant and equipment. 

 
8. Goodwill (note 5) 

 

Movement in goodwill is as follows: 
 

Balance at 01/01/2017 
 

Entry of CGU Energyco Group 

- 
 

5.2 

Entry of CGU Satlink Group 5.0 

Balance at 31/12/2017 10.2 

Entry of CGU Energyco Group (5.2) 

Balance at 31/12/2018 5.0 

 

Goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating units (CGU) of the Group. 

 

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for impairment testing purposes. Goodwill is allocated to the CGUs that are 

expected to benefit from the business combination from which the goodwill arose. 

 
The nature of the assets included to determine the value in use of each cash-generating unit is as follows: 

Property, Plant and Equipment, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Working Capital. 

 
No impairment losses have been recognised on goodwill in 2018 and 2017. 

 

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at the end of each reporting period, or earlier if there are indications 

of impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 4.d1. 

 
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on calculations of its fair value on the basis of the 

valuation report drawn up by an independent external valuer, Ernst & Young. The method used to determine the 

recoverable amount is based on discounted future cash flows. 

 
Financial projections (sales, EBITDA, investments, etc.) are based on the budgets and business plans of the 

companies themselves (same as CGU) approved by their respective Boards of Directors. These projections are not 

published and are presented to the Group at board meetings. In any case, the reasonableness of the projections 

prepared by the companies is contrasted with different market comparables and the Group’s own opinion based on 

its past experience. Financial projections have a five-year period. 
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The key valuation variables are as follows: Discount rate (WACC) and perpetual growth rate (g): 

 

• The WACC is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) generally accepted by the 

financial community and on the basis of market variables obtained through Bloomberg, such as the return 

on a ten-year bond or the levered beta with respect to the reference stock market index. In addition, various 

internal estimates are used, such as: the spread between the non-current debt of the Company and the ten-

year bond, the tax rate (same as for the terminal value cash flow) or the target capital structure. 

• The perpetual growth rate is calculated based on each company and the market in which they operate. 

 
The assumptions used to calculate the fair value of the Satlink CGU have been a discount rate of 11.9% and a 

perpetual growth rate of 1.2%. 

 
9. Other Intangible Assets (note 5) 

 

Movement in intangible assets is as follows: 

 
 

Balance at 1/01/2017 

Additions due to business 

 

- 

67.0 

Balance at 1/01/2018 67.0 

Additions 0.1 

Disposals (29.0) 

Balance at 31/12/2018 38.1 

 
 

Disposals in 2018 consist of the sale of the Energyco II subgroup (see note 2.3) and amortisation of Euros 4.5 

million. 

 
Details of intangible assets in 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

 

 In millions of Euros  Estimated 

useful life 
 2018  2017  

Industrial designs 10.9  12.4  10 

Computer software 2.3  5.0  3 

Trademarks 2.7  3.1  10 

Customer portfolio 21.5  22.6  10 

Other 0.7  23.9  - 

Total 38.1  67.0   

 

No other intangible assets are subject to restrictions on title or pledged as security for particular transactions. 
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Asset 

 

 

 

Liabilities 

  

 

 

 

Consolidated 

profit 
attributable 

to the Parent 

 

  

 

Current 

 

Non-
Current 

 

 

Current 

 

Non-
Current 

 

 

Revenues 

Other 

comprehensive 
income 

Acerinox, S.A.        

2018 2,473.8 2,133.8 1,262.1 1,226.2 5,010.8 237.1 70.6 

2017 2,256.4 2,147.6 1,284.3 1,149.4 4,626.9 234.1 (289.5) 

 

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad Holding de Mercados y Sistemas Financieros, S.A. 
 

2018 14,231.8 178.5 13,970 5 40.2 307.4 136.1 2.5 

2017 22,509.5 173.7 22,232.6 20.1 320.8 153.3 1.6 

 

CIE Automotive, S.A. 

2018 1,159.2 2,504.7 1,222.9 1,392.1 3,029.5 396.8 (8.8) 

2017 1,558.7 2,921.2 1,813.3 1,329.6 2,842.5 215.4 (108.6) 

 

Ebro Foods, S.A. 

       

2018 1,241.1 2,591.3 802.2 840.0 2,646.5 141.6 40.3 

2017 1,293.3 2,369.9 771.4 769.8 2,507.0 220.6 (137.4) 

 

Euskaltel, S.A. 

       

2018 177.7 2,721.0 361.6 1,562.2 674.6 62.8 - 

2017 136.2 2,768.3 246.5 1,694.4 609.3 49.6 - 

 

Indra Sistemas, S.A. 

2018 2,336.4 1,704.9 1,800.9 1,562.7 3,103.7 119.8 (24.9) 

2017 2,208.2 1,658.4 1,973.7 1,243.9 3,011.1 126.9 (4.6) 

 

Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales, S.A. 

2018 129.9 2,138.7 196.9 975.6 583.1 12.1 (3.2) 

2017 187.1 1,907.0 171.0 814.3 579.3 11.3 (11.3) 

 

Rioja Luxembourg, Sàrl 

2018 99.0 3,582.0 - 1.876.0 - 36,0 (45.0) 

2017 - - - - - - - 

 

Viscofan,  S.A. 

       

2018 506.2 527.6 173.7 102.4 786.0 123.7 (10.3) 

2017 445.1 515.7 113.6 119.6 778.1 122.1 (33.4) 
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Notices of shareholding: 

 

Notifications were issued concerning the acquisition, modification and disposal of interests in the share capital of 

the companies, in accordance with prevailing legislation. 

 
- In 2018 notifications were issued to: 

 

Energyco II, S.A. ............................................................................................................40.30% Sale 

 

Artá Partners, S.A. ......................................................................................................... .. 0.16% Sale 

 

Rioja Luxembourg, S.à r.l. ..............................................................................................25.73% Purchase 

 

Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. ............................................................................ ..............0.11% Purchase 

 

CIE Automotive, S.A. .....................................................................................................0.10% Purchase 

 

Ebro Foods, S.A. ....................................................................... ......................................2.00% Purchase 

Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales, S.A. ...................................................................1.42% Purchase 

Viscofán, S.A. .................................................................................................................1.68% Purchase 

- In 2017 notifications were issued to: 

 

ACS, Actividades de Construcción y Servicios, S.A.......................................................7.52% Sale 

Clínica Baviera, S.A…. ...................................................................................................20.00% Sale 

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad Holding de Mercados y S.F., S.A. .................. 1.49% Purchase 

Euskaltel, S.A. ................................................................................................................ 1.65% Purchase 

CIE Automotive, S.A. .....................................................................................................10.00% Purchase 

 

Ebro Foods, S.A.............................................................................................................. . 1.99% Purchase 

Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales, S.A. ................................................................... 9.48% Purchase 

Viscofán, S.A. .............................................................................................................. ... 0.30% Purchase 

The associates whose quoted price at 2018 year end is lower than their carrying amount are as follows: Acerinox, 

S.A., Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad Holding de Mercados y Sistemas Financieros S.A., CIE Automotive, 

S.A. Ebro Food, S.A., Euskaltel, S.A., Indra Sistemas, S.A. and Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales. 

S.A. The value in use of Viscofan, S.A. has not been calculated due to the scant difference between its carrying 

amount and its quoted price. In such cases the Investment Department of Alba calculates the value in use of  



39 

 
 
 

  
(Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 

  

 

 

 

each investment, which will be reviewed by the Finance Department without the involvement of independent experts. The method used is cash flow discounting, 

subsequently subtracting the value of net debt and non-controlling interests. The main assumptions used are as follows: 

 

  

 
 

 
Acerinox, S.A. 

Bolsas y Mercados, 

Sociedad Holding de 

Mercados y Sistemas 

Financieros,  S.A. 

 

CIE 

Automotive, 

S.A. 

 

 
 

Ebro Foods, 

S.A. 

 

 
 

 
Euskaltel, S.A. 

 

 
 

Indra Sistemas, 

S.A. 

 

Parques Reunidos 

Servicios Centrales, 

S.A. 

Perpetual growth rate 2.0% 1.5% 2.0% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 2.0% 

Discount rate (WACC) 8.3% 8.9% 8.9% 7.2% 7.3% 9.0% 8.2% 

Capital structure        

Capital 80% 100% 80% 80% 65% 85% 79% 

Debt 20% - 20% 20% 35% 15% 21% 

Equity ratio 9.6% 8.9% 10.3% 8.3% 9.5% 10.0% 9.4% 

Cost of debt after tax 3.3% n.s. 3.0% 2.8% 3.1% 3.6% 3.9% 

Estimated value in use (€/share) 13.67 27.65 30.40 19.01 9.12 13.12 15.88 

 

At 31 December 2018, Alba has recorded impairment of its interest in Bolsas y Mercados, Sociedad Holding de Mercados y Sistemas Financieros, S.A., with accumulated 

impairment at year end totalling Euros 36.0 million. The impairment of the interest in Euskaltel, S.A. has been partially reversed, with accumulated impairment at year end 

totalling Euros 9.0 million. 

 
The associates whose quoted price at 2017 year end was lower than their carrying amount are as follows: Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sociedad Holding de Mercados 

y Sistemas Financieros S.A., Euskaltel, S.A., Parques Reunidos Servicios Centrales, S.A. and Indra Sistemas, S.A. In these cases, the method used to calculate value in use is 

cash flow discounting, subsequently subtracting the value of net debt and non-controlling interests. The assumptions used were as follows: 
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 Bolsas y M ercados, 

Sociedad Holding de 

Mercados y Sistemas 

  

  

 

Euskaltel, S.A. 

  

 

Indra Sistemas, S.A. 

   

Parques Reunidos 

Servicios Centrales, S.A. 

Perpetual growth rate 1.5%  1.5%  1.8%   2.0% 

Discount rate (WACC) 8.9%  7.2%  9.0%   8.2% 

Capital structure         

Capital 100%  65%  85%   73% 

Debt -  35%  15%   27% 

Equity ratio 8.9%  9.2%  10.0%   9.4% 

Cost of debt after tax n.s.  3.5%  3.7%   3.9% 

Estimated value in use (€/share) 30.23  8.45  14.88   18.11 

 

At 31 December 2017 Alba recorded impairment of its interest in Bolsas y Mercados, Sociedad Holding de Mercados y Sistemas Financieros, S.A., with accumulated impairment 

at year end totalling Euros 13.9 million. The accumulated impairment at year end in Euskaltel, S.A. totalled Euros 20.9 million. The impairment of the interest in Indra Sistemas, 

S.A. was reversed in full. 

 
Financial projections (sales, EBITDA, investments, etc.) are based, where available, on the budgets and business plans of the investees themselves approved by their 

respective Boards of Directors. In the event of any subsequent updates or reviews of these business plans by the companies themselves, the latest available version will be used. 

It should be noted that in most cases the budgets and business plans of the investees are internal and have not been communicated to the market. In any case, the reasonableness 

of the projections prepared by the companies is contrasted with the market consensus, historical data and the opinion of Alba’s own team based on its past experience. If the 

companies have either not prepared projections or have outdated projections, their value is based on the consensus estimates available through platforms such as Bloomberg or 

Factset. 

 
In theory, no adjustments are made to the projections prepared by the companies or the consensus estimates. However, it may be necessary to use internal estimates 

prepared by Alba in certain situations: 
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CONSOLIDATED DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2018 

 

1. Business performance and position of the Company. 

 

The consolidated annual accounts at 31 December 2018 give a true and fair view of the Group's equity, financial 

position, results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and have been authorised 

for issue by the Company’s directors. 

 

 During 2018, the Alba Group’s activities comprised the following: 

 Management of a collection of controlling and influential interests in a series of companies active in a 

variety of sectors of the economy. 

 

 The promotion and holding of interests in companies. 

 

 Operation of buildings through lease or sale. 

 

Consolidated net profit for 2018 amounted to Euros 154.4 million, 67.4% lower than the prior year. The reason 

for this decline is because profit for 2017 included capital gains obtained on the sale of the remaining interest in 

ACS. 

Net asset value (NAV) amounted to Euros 3,911.9 million at 31 December 2018, equivalent to Euros 67.17 

per share. Alba’s share price on that same date of Euros 42.50 represents a discount of 36.7% compared with the 

NAV per share. NAV, both in absolute terms and per share, decreased by 3.4% compared with the same date in 

the previous year. 

 
During the year, Alba invested Euros 639.0 million and sold assets totalling Euros 139.9 million, reducing 

its net cash position to Euros 269.4 million at 31 December 2018. 

 
In October, Alba distributed a gross interim dividend of Euros 0.50 per share to its shareholders, with a charge 

against 2017 profit, representing a disbursement of Euros 29.1 million.  Total dividends distributed during 2018 

amounted to Euros 58.2 million. 

 
2. Most significant transactions 

 

Investments made by Alba in 2018 were as follows: 

 

 Purchase of an indirect 5.16% interest in Naturgy through the investment of Euros 500.0 million in Rioja 

Bidco Shareholdings. In mid-May, this company acquired a 20.07% interest in this company from Repsol. 

Additionally, a direct 0.11% interest in Naturgy was acquired for Euros 21.3 million. 

 Acquisition of a 2.00% stake in Ebro Foods for Euros 53.0 million, raising its interest in this company to 

14.00%.  
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 Purchase of a 1.68% interest in Viscofan for Euros 40.6 million, increasing its stake in this company to 

13.00%. 

 Additionally, Alba purchased a 1.42% interest and a 0.10% interest in Parques Reunidos and CIE 

Automotive for Euros 12.0 million and Euros 2.7 million, respectively. At 31 December 2018, Alba’s 

investment in Parques Reunidos and CIE Automotive amounted to 21.43% and 1010%, respectively. 

 Through Deyá Capital IV, it acquired a 3.7% interest in MonBake for Euros 9.4 million. MonBake is the 

new group resulting from the acquisition by investment funds managed by Ardian, of Panasa and Bellsolá, 

two of the main Spanish companies in the deep-frozen bread and pastries sector. This re-investment is 

part of the agreements reached between Deyá Capital and Ardian over the sale of Panasa. 

 
Divestments made during 2018 were as follows: 

 

 Through Deyá Capital, the 26.5% stake in Panasa was sold for Euros 88.4 million, and through Deyá 

Capital IV, the 40.3% interest in Gascan was sold for Euros 36.0 million. Through these sales, Alba 

disposed of its entire investment in both companies. 

 Sale of a building in Madrid for Euros 15.5 million. 

 

Finally, Deyá Capital IV, together with other investment vehicles managed by Artá Capital, undertook to 

participate with a group of investors led by KKR in launching a public offer to acquire 100% of the share capital 

of Telepizza. This offer is currently pending the approval of the Spanish National Securities Market Commission 

(CNMV).  

 
3. Outlook for the Company 

 

Alba’s foremost objective is to ensure that its investees achieve maximum profitability, improving their 

competitiveness and enhancing their human, financial and technological potential. Furthermore, the Company’s 

financial structure, size and flexibility will enable it to take advantage of investment opportunities that may arise. 

Performance of the main investees: 

 

 Acerinox sales in 2018 rose by 8.3% compared to the preceding year, reaching  

Euros 5,011 million. Steel production fell by 3.1% to 2.4 million tonnes, while cold rolling reached record 

levels for the second year running with 1.8 million tonnes (+0.8%). Annual EBITDA stood at Euros 480 

million, 1.8% down on the prior year due to lower results in Q4 2018. Net profit came to Euros 237 

million, which is slightly up on 2017 (+1.3%). Net financial debt at 31 December 2018 was Euros 552 

million, Euros 57 million down on the prior year and a sign of the company’s solid cash flow generation. 
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 Consolidated income from Bolsas y Mercados Españoles in 2018 fell by 4.9% compared to the previous 

year to Euros 3.4 million.  The decline in income from the Equities, Fixed Income, Settlement and 

Registration and Clearing divisions was unable to be offset by the rise in Derivatives and Market Data & 

VAS divisions. In the Equities division, income from trading activity fell by 12.5%., while income from 

listing activity rose slightly by 0.6%. Lower income and the rise in non-recurring personnel expenses 

explain the declines in EBITDA and net profit for the period to Euros 186 million and Euros 136 million, 

respectively, which represent drops of 11.3% and 11.1% on the prior year. The company had a net cash 

position of Euros 277 million at 31 December 2018, down 5.3% on the prece.ding year. 

 CIE Automotive revenue amounted to Euros 3,030 million in 2018, a 6.6% rise on the prior year, due to 

higher-than-market growth in all geographical areas. Excluding the impact of exchange rates (-4.4%) and 

of the consolidated group (+0.9%), sales rose by 10.1% compared to the prior year. EBITDA grew by 

12.3% to Euros 529 million, driven by higher margins (17.5% compared to 16.6% in 2017), while net 

profit grew by 84.2% to Euros 397 million. Excluding the effect of the distribution of the investment in 

Global Dominion in the form of an extraordinary dividend, and other non-recurring results, net profit rose 

by 20.0% to Euros 243 million in normalised terms. Net financial debt at 31 December 2018 amounted 

to Euros 948 million, which is 1.8 times EBITDA of the last twelve months. 

 Ebro Foods obtained sales of Euros 2,647 million in 2018, 5.6% higher than the prior year. This growth 

was driven by the healthy performance of both the Pasta division (+6.6%), buoyed by the consolidation 

of Bertagni, and the Rice division (+5.0%). EBITDA for the period amounted to Euros 311 million, 13.4% 

down on 2017, due mainly to the substantial increase in the prices of raw materials in Rice and to the 

logistics and production problems of this division in the United States. Net profit fell by 35.8% to Euros 

142 million. Net financial debt rose by Euros 187 million compared to 2017, to Euros 705 million, due 

to the acquisition of Bertagni, the increase in inventories of raw materials and investments made. 

 The comparability of Euskaltel’s annual results with those of the previous year was affected by the 

acquisition of 100% of Telecable de Asturias in July 2017. Revenues amounted to Euros 692 million in 

2018, a rise of 11.2% on the prior year (-2.2% in comparable terms if Telecable were included in both 

periods, mainly due to lower income from the Residential segment). In comparable terms, net new land 

line residential customers rose slightly during the period. Reported annual EBITDA increased by 9.6% 

compared to 2017 to Euros 336 million (-1.3% in comparable terms). Net profit reached Euros 63 million 

(+26.6%) due to the decline in extraordinary expenses. Net financial debt at 31 December 2018 fell to 

Euros 1,532 million, a 4.6% drop on the prior year. 
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 Indra sales totalled Euros 3,104 million in 2018, 3.1% up on the prior year (5.8% in local currency), 

mainly on account of the integration of Tecnocom and Paradigma and the healthy performance of the 

Transport & Traffic, Energy and Industry and Financial Services divisions. By geographical areas, sales 

in Spain grew mainly on the back of inorganic growth (+12.2%), rising slightly in Europe (+2.4%), but 

falling in Asia, the Middle East and Africa (-9.0%), mainly due to elections, and in America (-7.2%), 

because of the negative impact of exchange rates. EBIT came to Euros 199 million, 1.9% up on 2017, 

hampered by the restructuring costs of Tecnocom and the penalty imposed by the Spanish National 

Markets and Competition Commission (CNMC). Net profit amounted to Euros 120 million, 5.6% lower 

than in 2017. At the end of the year, net financial debt reached Euros 483 million (17.9% down on 2017), 

equivalent to 1.6 times 2018 EBITDA, after cash flows of Euros 168 million were generated during the 

year. 

 Naturgy recorded sales of Euros 24,339 million in 2018, a rise of 4.9% on the preceding year, driven by 

higher volumes and prices in the Gas business. EBITDA for the period amounted to  

Euros 4,019 million, 3.0% higher than in 2017. Eliminating non-recurring effects, EBITDA would have 

been 11.8% up on the prior year due to improvements in the Gas and Electricity lines of business and the 

stability of the infrastructures business. The net loss for the year amounted to Euros 2,822 million as a 

result of the Euros 4,905 million asset impairment made in the first half of the year. Excluding this impact 

and other non-recurring effects, net profit would have been 57.0% higher than in 2017 on the back of 

heightened activity and lower amortisation/depreciation and finance costs. Net financial debt at 31 

December 2018 fell to Euros 13,667 million, 9.8% down on the prior year. 

 The results for Parques Reunidos refer to the year ended 30 September 2018. Parques Reunidos revenue 

grew by 0.6% to Euros 583 million, but was largely weighed down by adverse meteorological conditions, 

particularly in the United States, and to a lesser extent in Europe. Recurring EBITDA fell slightly (-0.3%) 

to Euros 174 million. Excluding the effect of exchange rates and changes in the consolidated group, 

EBITDA would have increased by 1.4%. Recurring net profit amounted to Euros 13 million, a rise of 

14.4% on the prior year. Net debt grew to Euros 567 million from Euros 516 million at the end of 

September 2017, mainly on account of operating investments and the acquisition of Belantis. Parques 

Reunidos has changed its reporting date to 31 December, so the close of accounts at 31 December 2018 

corresponded to a three-month period. Given the seasonal nature of the business, the results from 

September to December are not representative. 

 Viscofan sales grew by 1.0% to Euros 786 million compared to 2017, despite the depreciation of its main 

trading currencies against the euro. Excluding the exchange rate impact (-3.8%) and the consolidated 

group (+2.0%), sales would have risen by 2.9% compared to the prior year, driven by the increase in 

prices and volumes and the improvement in cogeneration prices. Recurring El EBITDA fell by 8.2% to 

Euros 209 million because of the exchange rate impact mentioned above. In comparable terms, EBITDA 

dropped 1.3% due to the rise in the price of raw materials and energy, and higher overheads and personnel 

expenses on account of the new Cáseda factory.  Net profit totalled Euros 124 million, 1.4% up on the 

prior year. At 31 December 2018, Viscofan’s net debt was Euros 80 million compared to Euros 41 in 

2017, due to acquisitions and the higher dividend distributed. 
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5. Nate asset value (NAV) 

 

The most representative indicator of a company such as Alba is Net Asset Value (NAV). Calculated based on 

criteria typically used in the market, the NAV of Alba at 31 December 2018 before taxes amounted to Euros 

3,911.9 million or Euros 67.17 per share, which represents a 3.4% decline on the prior year. 

 

 

 

 

Millions of Euros 
 

 31/12/2018 31/12/2017 

Listed securities 2,865.1 2,440.0 

Unlisted securities 182.3 268.4 

Buildings 344.0 353.0 

Other assets and liabilities 251.1 226.6 

Net cash 269.4 761.7 

Net asset value (NAV) 3,911.9 4,049.5 

Millions of shares 58.24 58.24 

NAV / share €67.17 €69.53 

 

Gascan and Satlink are included at their fair value, and consequently, their 

assets and liabilities have been eliminated. 

Correspondence with the consolidated balance sheet is shown in the footnotes 

of the balance sheet (page 10). 
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. 
6. Sector distribution of gross asset value (1) (GAV) 

 
 

 

(1)  Market prices of listed companies (closing prices at 31 December 2018) and valuation of non-listed companies 
and buildings (also at 31 December 2018). 

 

 

7. Consolidated results 

 

Consolidated profit net of taxes amounted to Euros 154.4 million in 2018 compared to Euros 474.1 million in the 

previous year (-67.4%). The reason for this decline is because profit for 2017 included capital gains obtained on 

the sale of the remaining interest in ACS. 

 
Income from share of profits in associates came to Euros 161.4 million compared to Euros 118.9 million in 

2017 (+35.8%). This increase is largely explained by the first-time consolidation of the investments in CIE 

Automotive and Naturgy. 

 
Earnings per share in 2018 stood at €2.65 compared to €8.14 the prior year. 
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8. Share price performance 

 
 

 
In 2018, the price of Alba’s shares dropped by 10.9% from Euros 47.42 to Euros 42.50, while in the same 

period, the IBEX 35 slid 15.0% to 8,540 points. 

 
9. Events after the reporting period 

 Purchase of an additional 1.58% stake in Parques Reunidos for Euros 13.4 million, raising the 

investment in the company to 23.02%. 

 Purchase of an additional 0.03% stake in CIE Automotive for Euros 0.8 million, raising the investment 

in this company to 10.13%. 

10. Acquisitions and disposals of own shares 

 

Details of own shares at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

 

 
No. of 

shares 

 % of 

share 

capital 

Acquisition 

price 

€/share 

 
Thousands 

      of € 

At 1 January 2017 59,898 0,10% 40.29 2,413 

Purchases in 2018 102 0.00% 49.50 5 

Amortisation in 2018 (60,000)    (0.10%) 

At 31 December 2018  -  

11. Research and development activities 

The Group’s specific activities mean that direct investments are not necessary in this area. 
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12. . Average supplier payment period 

Details of the average supplier payment period are as follows: 

 

(Days) 2018   2017  

Average payment period for suppliers  43   42 

Transactions paid ratio  44   45 

Transactions payable ratio  41   40 

(Thousands of Euros) 2018 
  

2017 
 

Total payments made 30.7  48.8 

Total payments outstanding 9.0  14.0 

 
13. Risk management and control policy 

 

The Board of Directors of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. has drawn up the following risk management and 

control policy: 

 
1.- Types of risk faced by the Group 

 

Risk is inherent to all business activity and is defined as uncertainty concerning the occurrence of an event or 

action that could adversely affect the Company’s ability to maximise its value for stakeholders and to achieve its 

goals; it also refers to the possibility of threats materialising and opportunities not being taken. 

 
Corporación Financiera Alba engages in two principal activities: 

 

(i) investment in the capital of listed and unlisted companies, and 

 

(ii) investment in buildings leased as office spaces. 

 

As a result of its activities, the markets and sectors in which it operates and its environment, the Company is 

exposed to the following categories of risks: 

 

 Strategic risks related to the mission and vision of the Company, achievement of business goals and the 

creation and preservation of value for shareholders and other stakeholders. 

 
These include risks related to the corporate governance of the Company, its reputation and 

responsibility, investment and divestment strategies, and market dynamics. 

 

 Operational risks involving potential direct or indirect economic losses related to external events: 

uncertainty in the Company’s own business activities; or internal events: failures or inadequacies in the 

processes, systems or resources of the Company. 
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These include risks related, mainly, to revenues, investments and divestments and their monitoring, the 

acquisition of goods and services, physical assets, human resources, information technologies and natural 

disasters, terrorism and other criminal acts. 

 

 Financial risks resulting, broadly speaking, from any financing operation which the Company must make 

in order to perform its activities, as well as the reliability of financial information reported by the 

Company. 

 
These include liquidity and credit risks, market, tax, accounting and reporting risks 

 

 Regulatory compliance risks arising from a potential failure to comply with laws, regulations, internal 

standards and codes of conduct, as well as greater exposure to such risks. 

 
These include legal risks, regulatory risks and risks involving codes of ethics and conduct. 

 
2.- Integrated Risk Management System 

 

Aware of the importance and advantages of adequately and efficiently managing its risks, Corporación Financiera 

Alba has established an Integrated Risk Management System mainly focused on: 

 

 Enabling the identification and proactive and efficient assessment of Company risks, as well as 

monitoring and continually tracking these risks. 

 

 Integrating, coordinating and directing the various risk management actions performed by the Company. 

 

 Achieving responsible risk acceptance and reinforcing the responsibility of the Company’s employees. 

 

 Ensuring the control systems are aligned with the actual risks of the Company. 

 
 Facilitating and streamlining the application of corrective measures. 

The Integrated Risk Management System unites three key components: 

 

(i) The continuous risk management process, understood as the activities performed by all individuals in the 

Company under the supervision of the Audit and Compliance Committee that are focused on identifying 

potential risk events, managing the risks identified and providing reasonable assurance that the Company 

will achieve its goals. 
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(ii) An organisational focus, with clearly defined and communicated roles and responsibilities. Integrated 

risk management affects all Company personnel, therefore it is vital to establish an organisational focus 

on risk management tailored to the organisational structure and corporate culture of the Company. 

 
Although the Integrated Risk Management System affects and involves all Company personnel, the main 

participants are as follows: risk managers, the Risk Control and Management Department, the Audit and 

Compliance Committee and the Board of Directors. 

 
(iii) A monitoring model, which identifies and provides the timely information needed so that all those 

involved in the risk management process can make informed decisions concerning the risks. 

 
2.1. The Continuous Risk Management Process. 

 

By way of a summary, the continuous risk management process involves performing the following activities: 

 

 Identifying and assessing the risks that could affect the Company. 

 

Determining the main strategic, operational, financial and regulatory compliance risks affecting the 

Company’s strategy and goals, assessing the probability of occurrence and potential impact and 

prioritising risks based on these factors. 

 

 Setting the level of risk that is considered acceptable. 

 

Defining key risk indicators (KRIs) for each critical risk and establishing tolerance levels for these risks. 

 

 Identifying controls. 

 

Specifying existing controls (or those to be implemented) in the Company to mitigate the aforementioned 

risks. 

 

 Identifying the processes in which these risks and controls should arise. 

 

Determining the existing relationship between the Company’s key risks – and its controls – and the 

Company’s processes, identifying and analysing the processes that are critical for managing risks. 

 

 Assessing controls. 

 

Assessing the effectiveness of the controls in mitigating the risks identified. 

 

 Designing and implementing action plans in response to the risks. 

 

Determining action plans to be carried out to lower the residual risk to the acceptable level of risk, bearing 

in mind the costs and benefits of such efforts. As a direct result of  
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this reduction of the level of risk, a reassessment and prioritisation of the risks will be necessary and 

appropriate, as part of a continuous risk management process. 

 
In this regard, Corporación Financiera Alba has prepared the company’s Risk Map, which shows, based on their 

impact and probability, the key risks in the categories listed above. In order for this map to be effectively used as 

a management tool that allows the Company to make informed decisions, the map is reviewed and updated 

periodically to adjust it to the Company’s current circumstances. 

 
Likewise, the Company has prepared Risk Indices for the most critical risks, identifying the key risk 

indicators with their corresponding tolerance levels, the controls associated and, where applicable, the action plans 

to be implemented. These Indices allow the Company to periodically assess and monitor its risks and to determine 

the most appropriate response to these risks. 

 
2.2. Organisational Model of roles and responsibilities. 

 

Although the Integrated Risk Management System affects and involves all Company personnel, the main players 

are as follows: 

 
(i) Risk managers: 

 

These managers are responsible for monitoring the risks they have been assigned and for informing the 

Risk Control and Management Department of any relevant information concerning the risks. 

 
(ii) Risk Control and Management Department. 

 

The Risk Control and Management Department is expressly tasked with the following duties: 

 

 Ensuring the smooth running of the risk control and management systems and, specifically, that 

all the important risks affecting the Company are identified, managed and quantified correctly. 

 

 Actively participating in preparing the risk strategy and important decisions concerning risk 

management. 

 

 Ensuring that the risk control and management systems adequately mitigate risks, as part of the 

policy established by the Board of Directors. 

 
(iii) Audit and Compliance Committee. 

 

Supervises, pursuant to the Regulations of the Company’s Board of Directors, among other matters, the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management systems. 

 
Likewise, it discusses any significant weaknesses in the internal control system detected during the 

audit with the auditor. 
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(iv) Board of Directors. 

 

As indicated previously, the Board of Directors has the power to determine the risk control and 

management policy, including for tax risks, and is tasked with supervising the internal reporting and 

internal control systems. With regard to the risk management processes, it is noteworthy that, in addition 

to the aforementioned Risk Control and Management Department, Corporación Financiera Alba has 

Regulatory Compliance processes which are performed by the various operational and support 

departments, as well as an Internal Audit Service (SAI), defined as an advisory and control body serving 

the Audit and Compliance Committee, that is independent within the organisation as regards its actions, 

aimed at assessing the various areas and functional activities of the Company. 

 
The duties of the Internal Audit Service include the analysis and proposal of recommendations to improve 

the risk management processes. The Internal Audit Service also performs independent assessments of the 

efficiency and effectiveness of internal controls, although this is always in coordination with the Risk 

Control and Management Department, in order to avoid duplicating tasks and/or areas existing without 

adequate coverage. 

 
2.3 Monitoring and Reporting Model 

The last component of the Integrated Risk Management System is a monitoring and reporting model capable of 

providing relevant information, in a timely and appropriate manner, to all players involved in the risk control and 

management process, both upwards and downwards in the hierarchy. 

 

This cross-departmental monitoring model allows the System to behave dynamically and, above all, to 

anticipate risks, rendering risk management and control, within the limits set by the Company, possible. 

Specifically, the Integrated Risk Management System established by Corporación Financiera Alba is a 

management, communication, monitoring and support mechanism for all activities related to risk control and 

management. It is vital for responding to individual risks and risks that are specific to each activity, while it 

provides the framework needed for coordinated management by the Company. 

 

 
14. . Annual Corporate Governance Report 

 

This is attached as Appendix I. 
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APPROVAL OF THE BOARD 

 

At its meeting held on 25 March 2019, the Board of Directors of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. approved this 

directors’ report, written on 17 pages signed by the Secretary of the Board, the last of which is signed by all the 

members of the Board. 

 

DECLARATION OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

The members of the Board of Directors of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. declare that, to the best of their 

knowledge, the individual and consolidated Annual Accounts for 2018, authorised for issue at the meeting held on 

25 March 2019, and prepared in accordance with applicable accounting principles, give a true and fair view of the 

consolidated equity and consolidated financial position at 31 December 2018, and consolidated results of 

operations, changes in consolidated equity and consolidated cash flows of Corporación Financiera Alba, S.A. for 

the year ended, and of the consolidated companies taken as a whole, and that the individual and consolidated 

directors' reports provide a reliable analysis of the performance, results and position of Corporación Financiera 

Alba, S.A. for the year ended, and of the consolidated companies taken as a whole, as well as a description of the 

main risks and uncertainties to which the Company is exposed. 

 

 

 
 

Mr. Carlos March Delgado Mr. Juan March de la Lastra 

Chairman 1st Vice-chairman 

 

 
Mr. Juan March Juan Mr. Santos Martínez-Conde Gutierrez-Barquín 

2nd Vice-chairman CEO 

 

 
Mr. José Domingo De Ampuero y Osma Mr. Ramón Carné Casas 

Board member  Board member 

 

 
Ms. Cristina Garmendia Mendizábal Ms. María Eugenia Girón Dávila 

Board member Board member 

 

 
Mr. Carlos González Fernández Ms. Claudia Pickholz 

Board member Board member 

 

 
Mr. Antón Pradera Jaúregui Mr. José Ramón del Caño Palop 

Board member Board member and Secretary of the Board 


























































































































